2007

# Michael Reid Nielsen vs. Lorenzo M. Spencer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated. This appeal is subject to assignment to the Utah Court of Appeal under Section 78-2-2(4), Utah Code Annotated; and has been assigned to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 42(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. (Rec. 1197).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

**1. Issue:** Was Spencer’s underlying action for alienation of affection, brought “without probable cause” as required to sustain a claim for wrongful use of civil proceedings?

**Standard of Review:** A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000); *State v. Leyva*, 951 P.2d 738 (Utah 1997).

**Preservation for Review:** The legal standard to establish a claim for wrongful use of civil proceedings; and whether the dismissal of the prior action, as a discovery sanction, meant that the action was brought “without probable cause,” was raised in the trial court. (Rec. 1199, pg. 544-554).

**Plain Error Rule and Exceptional Circumstances:** If not properly preserved at trial, this issue should still be addressed on appeal under the plain error rule, *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993), or based on the exceptional circumstances.

*State v. Lopez*, 873 P.2d 1127 (Utah 1994).

**2. Issue:** Was the termination of Spencer’s underlying action for alienation of affection “on the merits,” as required to sustain a claim for wrongful use of civil proceedings?

**Standard of Review:** A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000).

**Preservation for Review:** The legal standard to establish a claim for wrongful use of civil proceedings; and whether the dismissal of the prior action, based solely as a discovery sanction, constituted a dismissal “on the merits,” was raised in the trial court. (Rec.1199, pg. 544-554).

**Plain Error Rule and Exceptional Circumstances:** If not properly preserved at trial, this issue should still be addressed on appeal under the plain error rule, *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993), or based on the exceptional circumstances. *State v. Lopez*, 873 P.2d 1127 (Utah 1994).

**3. Issue:** Was there a “willful act in the use of the process, not proper in the regular course of the proceeding,” in Spencer’s underlying action for alienation of affection, sufficient to sustain a claim for abuse of civil process?

**Standard of Review:** A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000).

**Preservation for Review:** The legal standard to establish a claim for abuse of civil process, and whether any of the items listed in the jury instructions could alone, constitute an abuse of process, was raised before the trial court. (Rec. 1199, pg.544-546).

**Plain Error Rule and Exceptional Circumstances:** If not properly preserved at trial, this issue should still be addressed on appeal under the plain error rule, *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993), or based on the exceptional circumstances. *State v. Lopez*, 873 P.2d 1127 (Utah 1994).

4. **Issue:** Is Nielsen on his wrongful use of civil proceedings claim, entitled to prejudgment interest on a damage award of \$95,000.00 for the attorneys' fees he incurred in defending the underlying action brought against him?

**Standard of Review:** A trial court's decision to grant or deny prejudgment interest presents a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Smith v. Fairfax Realty Inc.*, 82 P.3d 1064 (Utah 2003).

**Preservation for Review:** This issue was raised before the trial court. The issue was briefed (Rec. 962-1094), and the court issued its Ruling on Plaintiff's Motion For Prejudgment Interest and Costs, on November 30, 2006. (Rec. 1096-1100).

5. **Issue:** Are the attorneys' fees, awarded as damages under Nielsen's wrongful use of civil proceeding claim, "special damages" under Section 78-27-44 U.C.A., entitling Nielsen to prejudgment interest on his fees, pursuant to 78-27-44 U.C.A.?

**Standard of Review:** The interpretation of a statute is reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's interpretation. *Summit Water Distrib. Co. v. Mountain Reg'l Water Special Serv. Dist.*, 108 P.3d 119 (Ut.App. 2005).

**Preservation for Review:** This issue was raised before the trial court. The issue was briefed (Rec. 962-1094) and the court issued its ruling interpreting this statute on November 30, 2006. (Rec. 1096-1100).

**6. Issue:** Did Nielsen properly make a claim in his complaint for prejudgment interest on "special damages actually incurred," as required by the Statute, in order to be entitled to prejudgment interest under Section 78-27-44 U.C.A.?

**Standard of Review:** The interpretation of a statute is reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's interpretation. *Summit Water Distrib. Co. v. Mountain Reg'l Water Special Serv. Dist.*, 108 P.3d 119 (Ut.App. 2005).

**Preservation for Review:** This issue was raised before the trial court. The issue was briefed (Rec. 962-1094), and the court issued its ruling interpreting this Statute on November 30, 2006. (Rec. 1096-1100).

**7. Issue:** Is the trial court's interpretation that on Nielsen's tort claim, the award of \$95,000.00 under the Special Verdict form, is all "special damages" with no general damages, contrary to the law?

**Standard of Review:** A determination of the law is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 1 P.3d 564 (Ut.App. 2000); *State v. Leyva*,

951 P.2d 738 (Utah 1997).

**Preservation for Review:** This issue was raised before the trial court. The issue was briefed (Rec. 962-1094), and the court issued its ruling interpreting the Special Verdict form on November 30, 2006. (Rec. 1096-1100).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of Proceedings:**

In 1996, the Defendant/Appellant, Lorenzo Spencer (“Spencer”) brought an action against the Plaintiff/Appellee, Michael Nielsen (“Nielsen”) for alienation of affection, intentional infliction of emotional distress and negligent infliction of emotional distress. Nielsen had been involved in an ongoing sexual relationship with Spencer’s wife, Jewelya Spencer (“Jewelya”), and fathered twins through Jewelya, while she was married to Spencer. Nielsen met Jewelya again in California in 1995, and Jewelya subsequently filed for divorce in 1996. (Rec. 741-746) (Civil No. 960700147-PI)

The trial court dismissed Spencer’s intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress claims based upon the statute of limitations. (See Findings on Motion for Summary Judgment, Rec. 809, ¶s 5 & 6). The court then ruled that Spencer failed to produce certain documents in discovery; and therefore dismissed the remaining claim for alienation of affection, as a discovery sanction, under Rule 37(b)(2)(C). (See Findings on Motion to Dismiss, Rec 802, ¶ 22).

After the dismissal of the alienation of affection claim against him, Nielsen filed this action against Spencer on December 18, 2001, for wrongful use of civil proceeding and abuse of process. (Rec. 1-7) Nielsen claimed that the alienation of affection claim was brought against him without probable cause, because Spencer knew that he could not prevail on his claim against Nielsen. (Rec. 2, ¶ 8). Nielsen also filed an abuse of process claim, alleging that Spencer engage in dilatory tactics in the alienation of affection case, by failing to produce certain documents, pursuant to discovery requests. (Rec. 4, ¶ 14). Nielsen claimed that Spencer's intent with the alienation of affection lawsuit was to harass, and embarrass Nielsen, and cause him to incur substantial time and expense. (Rec. 4, ¶ 16). Nielsen sought damages for his attorneys' fees incurred in defending the alienation of affection claim, attorneys' fees for bringing the current action, as well as, lost earnings and benefits, loss of employment time, emotional distress, mental pain and suffering, medical expenses, and other expenses to be determined according to proof. Nielsen also sought punitive damages. (Rec. 3, ¶ 10, & 6, ¶ 18). Nielsen made no claim for prejudgment interest; and did not make any claim for "special damages actually incurred" for medical or hospital care, under Section 78-27-44 U.C.A. (Rec. 3-7).

The matter was set for trial and jury instruction were prepared by Spencer's counsel on the wrongful use of civil proceedings (Rec. 472), including instructions: that even good marriages have difficulties and the existence of marital problems does not justify or excuse a person's intrusion into the marriage relationship (Rec. 476); that the law recognizes that the enticing away of another man's wife is an act inherently wrong

and necessarily known to be wrong (Rec. 474); and that the person's intrusion need not be the sole cause of the alienation of affection, but that person may be liable if his actions or conduct was the controlling or the effective cause of the alienation, even though there were other causes that might have contributed to the alienation. (Rec. 477).

Jury instructions were also prepared by Spencer's attorney regarding the abuse of civil process (Rec. 473) including instructions that: Nielsen must prove that Spencer maliciously used the legal process against Nielsen primarily to accomplish a purpose for which it was not designed (Rec. 473); and that even a pure spite motive is not sufficient to state a claim for abuse of process where the process is used only to accomplish the result for which it was created, (Rec. 475).

A 3 day jury trial was held on June 7-9 2006. (Rec. 588-593). At trial Nielsen testified that he did meet Spencer's wife, Jewelya, on numerous occasions, while she was married to Spencer, and had sex with her. (Rec. 1199, Trans. pg. 455). He also admitted that he had an ongoing sexual relationship with Jewelya and suspected that he was the father when she later became pregnant. (Rec. 1199, Trans. pg. 456). After Jewelya became pregnant, Nielsen continued to have sexual relations with her. (Rec. 1199, Trans. pgs. 461-463). Blood tests later confirmed that Nielsen was the father of the twin girls born to Jewelya, while she was married to Spencer. (Rec. 1199, pg. 428 & 463).

Although Nielsen admitted at trial that he had had sexual relations with Jewelya and had fathered two children with her while she was married to Spencer,



Nielsen argued that Spencer and his wife had other marital problems and that Nielsen's extra-marital affair, the fathering of two children, and the on-going sexual relations with Spencer's wife; was not the "controlling cause" of the alienation of affection in their marriage; and therefore, because there were other problems in the marriage, Spencer's alienation of affection lawsuit against Nielsen, constituted a wrongful use of civil proceedings. (Rec. 1199, Trans. pg. 570, 579-580).

Nielsen also claimed that Spencer abused the legal process by engaging in one or more of the following acts, in pursuing his alienation of affection claim against Nielsen: (a) attempting to take depositions of Nielsen's wife and mother; (b) intentionally causing crucial evidence to be lost or destroyed; (c) misrepresenting facts in order to mislead Nielsen, causing him to incur additional expense and time; (d) engaging in delay tactics, causing Nielsen to incur additional expenses and attorneys' fees; (e) designating numerous witnesses; and (f) improperly attempting to influence witnesses to misstate facts. (Jury Instruction No. 19, Rec. 620). Spencer objected to this list of items and argued that they (particularly standing alone) were not sufficient to constitute an abuse of the civil process. (Rec. 1199, pg. 544-547). The court ruled that any one of these acts alone, would be sufficient for abuse of process, and it was a matter for the jury to decide. (Rec. 1199, pg.544-545). Nielsen argued to the jury, at the close of trial, that any one of these actions standing alone, was sufficient to constitute an abuse of the civil process. (Rec. 1199, Trans. pgs. 582-585).

For damages, Nielsen sought \$15,960.00 for lost earnings; \$95,000.00 for the attorneys' fees he incurred in defending the alienation of affection lawsuit, and \$86,000.00 for attorneys fees he incurred in bringing the current action; for a total amount of \$178,960.00. (Rec. 1199, pg. 589). Nielsen also sought punitive damages. (Rec. 1199, pg. 589-590).

Spencer maintained that the list of items for abuse of process, particularly standing alone, were not sufficient to constitute an abuse of process. (Rec. 1199, pg. 544-547). Spencer further argued that the dismissal of the alienation of affection claim, as a discovery sanction, did not constitute a dismissal on the merits, nor did it show a lack of probable cause by Spencer in filing his alienation of affection claim against Nielsen. (Rec. 1199, pg. 553). After all, Nielsen had admitted that he had sexual relations with Spencer's wife, fathering twins. (Rec. 1199, pg. 455).

There was no ruling by the court, as a matter of law, that the prior alienation of affection claim was filed by Spencer without probable cause, or that the alienation of affection claim was terminated in favor of Nielsen on the merits. There was no ruling by the court, as a matter of law, that Spencer's failure to comply with discovery requests in the alienation of affection lawsuit, or that any action taken by Spencer in the alienation of affection lawsuit, taken alone or collectively, was a "willful act not proper in the regular course of the proceeding," constituting an abuse of civil process.

Spencer objected to the jury instructions prepared regarding the wrongful use of civil proceeding and abuse of process, Instructions 16 & 19. (Rec. 617 & 620, respectively). Spencer's counsel complained about Instruction 16, that the dismissal by Judge Dawson of the alienation of affection claim was not based on the merits of the case and did not mean that the action was improperly filed, but that it was only dismissed as a discovery sanction. (Rec. 1199, pg. 553).

Instruction 16 attempts to set forth the elements that Spencer must prove in order to prevail on his alienation of affection claim. (Rec. 617). It requires that Spencer prove that: (1) he and his wife, Jewelya were happily married and had a genuine love for each other, (2) that the love and affection so existing was alienated and destroyed, (3) and that Nielsen made willful, intentional, wrongful, and malicious acts toward Jewelya, which were the controlling or effective cause that brought about the loss and alienation of such love and affection. (Rec. 617). In reality, the jury was being asked not to determine if Spencer had probable cause to file his alienation of affection claim, but rather to determine the underlying case, i.e., whether Nielsen was the "controlling cause" of the alienation of affection between Spencer and Jewelya.

Spencer's counsel also objected to Instruction 19 and complained that the list of items (particularly when standing alone) did not constitute a wrongful use of the civil proceedings. (Rec. 1199, pg. 544-546). The trial court denied his objections saying one was sufficient, and it was a matter for the jury to decide. (Rec. 1199, pg. 454-546).

After trial, the jury found in favor of Nielsen and against Spencer, using a Special Verdict form, the jury awarded Nielsen \$95,000.00 on his wrongful use of civil proceeding claim. (Rec. 640-641) The jury also found in favor of Nielsen on his abuse of process claim, but did not award any damages under this claim. No punitive damages were awarded. (Rec. 640-641).

After the Special Verdict was returned, a Judgment on Special Verdict was prepared (Rec. 955-958), it provided for prejudgment interest on the \$95,000.00 damage award, from September 20, 2001, to the date of the Verdict, in an amount of \$44,333.36. (Rec. 958, ¶ 6). Spencer filed an objection to this, arguing that there should be no pre-judgment interest awarded, without a statute or contract. (Rec. 962 & 965, ¶ 1). Nielsen filed a response to Spencer's objections (Rec. 969-991), arguing that the \$95,000.00 amount awarded, was the amount Nielsen had asked for his attorneys' fees in defending the alienation of affection case, and apparently the jury accepted this amount. (Rec. 971). Nielsen also filed an Amended Proposed Judgment on Special Verdict (Rec. 987-990), increasing the amount of prejudgment interest to \$86,447.86, by dating it back to May 3, 1996, the date Spencer filed his alienation of affection lawsuit. (Rec. 990, ¶ 6). Also for the first time Nielsen claimed that he was entitled to prejudgment interest on the damage award, based on 78-27-44 U.C.A. (Rec. 971). Spencer responded, arguing that 78-27-44 U.C.A. was not applicable in this case, and even if it was, Nielsen should not be awarded prejudgment interest back to May 3, 1996, because Nielsen's cause of action could not

have arisen until the alienation of affection claim was dismissed in 2001. (Rec. 993).

A hearing was held on August 29, 2006. (Rec. 1026). After the hearing the parties submitted additional cases. On November 30, 2006, the trial court issued its Ruling on Plaintiff's Motion For Prejudgment Interest and Costs. (Rec. 1096-1100). The trial court ruled that Nielsen was entitled to prejudgment interest on the damages as provided in 78-27-44 UCA. (Rec. 1096). The trial court further ruled that the \$95,000.00 amount awarded constituted "special damages" for purposes of 78-27-44, citing Rule 9(g) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (Rec. 1098). The trial court however, did not allow prejudgment interest back to May 3, 1996, but ruled that since the cause of action did not accrue until the alienation of affection action was terminated in 2001, Nielsen was only entitled to prejudgment interest from the date of termination in 2001. (Rec. 1098).

On December 29, 2006, the trial court entered a Second Amended Proposed Judgment on Special Verdict. (Rec. 1101-1104). On January 5, 2007, Spencer filed a Motion for New Trial (Rec. 1106) arguing: that the alienation of affection claim was not brought without probable cause; that it was not dismissed on the merits; that there was no wrongful use of the civil proceeding in the alienation of affection action; that the jury was not properly instructed, and that the court's interpretation of the Special Verdict form, i.e., that the \$95,000.00 amount awarded as general damages for attorneys' fees, constituted "special damages" under 78-27-44 U.C.A., for medical bills actually incurred, was in error and contrary to the law. (Rec. 1109-1114).

The trial court denied Spencer's Motion for New Trial. Its Order Denying Defendant's Motion for New Trial, was entered on May 1, 2007. (Rec. 1189-1192). On May 25, 2007, Spencer filed his Notice of Appeal. (Rec. 1193).

**Statement of Facts:**

1. Nielsen filed his Complaint in this action on December 18, 2001, alleging two causes of action: wrongful bringing of civil proceedings; and abuse of process. (Rec. 1-7).

2. Nielsen claimed that Spencer's alienation of affection claim was brought against him without probable cause, because Spencer knew his wife never loved him and because he knew that he could not prevail on his alienation of affection claim against Nielsen. (Rec. 2 ¶ 8).

3. In his wrongful bringing of civil proceedings claim, Nielsen alleges that on or about April 3, 2001, Spencer's alienation of affection claim against Nielsen was dismissed as a sanction for failing to comply with discovery requirements. (Rec. 3, ¶ 9).

4. Nielsen sought damages under his wrongful bringing of civil proceeding claim, for attorneys' fees and costs incurred in defending the alienation of affection suit, attorneys' fees incurred in pursuing his lawsuit, lost earnings and benefits, loss of employment time, emotional distress, mental pain and suffering, medical expenses, and other expenses, to be determined according to proof; and other

consequential damages to be determined according to proof. (Rec. 3, ¶ 10).

5. In his abuse of process claim, Nielsen alleges that Spencer engaged in persistent and dilatory tactics intending to frustrate the judicial process during discovery of the alienation of affection action when he failed to produce certain documents. (Rec. 4, ¶ 14). Nielsen alleges that Spencer attempted to harass and embarrass Nielsen and cause him to incur additional expense and time by the following actions: (a) attempting take the depositions of Nielsen's mother and wife, (b) causing crucial evidence to be lost or stolen, (c) misrepresenting facts to mislead Nielsen from possible defenses, and to force Nielsen to incur additional time and expense, (d) engaging in delay tactics causing Nielsen to incur additional attorneys' fees, (e) designating numerous witnesses to force Nielsen to do exhaustive investigative work causing him to incur additional attorneys' fees and expense, (f) and attempting to influence other witnesses to misstate the facts. (Rec. 5, ¶ 17).

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