2007

Michael Reid Nielsen v. Lorenzo M. Spencer : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After the Jury found that Spencer had wrongfully brought a civil suit and abused the process, Spencer brought this appeal of seven issues, all of which are either unpreserved, harmless error, or not well taken. Moreover, where required, Spencer failed to show plain error, exceptional circumstances, and properly marshal the evidence.

First, the jury found that when Spencer filed his alienation of affections action, he lacked reasonable belief that he would prevail when he brought the underlying case against Nielsen. Because this factual issue was disputed, it was a proper jury question. Without a reasonable belief that he would prevail, Spencer did not have probable cause. This Court should rule that this issue was not properly preserved before the jury was excused and the evidence was not properly marshaled on appeal.

Second, the trial court properly instructed the jury that the underlying action filed by Spencer was dismissed as a discovery sanction and therefore terminated in favor of Nielsen. The dismissal was a substantial termination, similar to a dismissal for failure to prosecute, and is on the merits. It was not a technical dismissal, i.e., lack of jurisdiction, statute of limitations. This Court should rule that this issue was not properly preserved before the jury was excused and that the prior action was clearly terminated on its merits in favor of Nielsen.

Third, the trial court properly instructed the jury on the requirement of the abuse of process claim. The jury properly found Spencer had an ulterior purpose and that he committed one or more of the acts listed in the instruction. Each of the items listed in Jury

Instruction 19, is a willful act in the use of the process, not proper in the regular course of the proceedings.

Fourth, the trial court properly awarded prejudgment interest. In a case for wrongful bringing of a civil suit, attorneys' fees and costs are special damages. As past special damages, Nielsen had a statutory right under U.C.A. Section 78-27-44 to prejudgment interest. The trial court properly used its discretion in awarding prejudgment interest, even though it was not requested in the Complaint. Notwithstanding, Nielsen has an independent right to prejudgment interest under common law where the attorneys' fees were undisputed as to their reasonableness, they were complete and mathematically calculable, and they were paid prior to this trial.

Finally, this case for wrongful bringing of a civil suit is distinguishable from a typical tort such as auto accident personal injury cases, in that the special damages of attorneys' fees do not result from the general damages. Therefore awarding special damages under these circumstances where general damages were not requested was proper. This Court should rule that this issue was not properly preserved before the jury was excused

ARGUMENT

I. UNDER NIELSEN'S CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL BRINGING OF A CIVIL SUIT, IT WAS PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT SPENCER BROUGHT THE UNDERLYING LAWSUIT FOR ALIENATION OF AFFECTIONS WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE.

A. Because This Issue Was Not Preserved and Does not Involve Not Plain Error or an Exceptional Circumstances, it Should Not Be Addressed on Appeal.

Spencer waived this issue by not properly preserving it. Spencer never requested the trial court to make a legal determination on probable cause. Moreover, Spencer did not object to putting the issue of reasonable belief in front of the jury; in fact this issue was included in Spencer's own proposed instruction. (R. 470). The portion of the record Spencer claims preserves this issue, has nothing to do with probable cause and refers primarily to the claim for abuse of process. (R. 1199, p. 544).

It is a well established rule that a party who fails to bring an issue before the trial court is generally barred from raising it for the first time on appeal. *State v. Pinder*, 2005 UT 15, ¶ 45, 114 P.3d 551. "The objection must be specific enough to put the trial court on notice of every error which is complained of on appeal." *VanDyke v. Mountain Coin Mach. Distribs., Inc.*, 758 P.2d 962, 965 (Utah Ct. App.1988).

The elements of a Wrongful Bringing of a Civil Suit were set forth in Jury Instruction Nos. 14 and 15. Jury Instruction No. 14 asked the jury to determine whether Spencer had a reasonable belief that he would prevail when he brought the underlying suit. (R. 615). Likewise, Jury Instruction No. 15 set forth that reasonable belief is based on the facts, and whether Spencer believed that under those facts, his claim was valid. (R. 616). It is important to note that Jury Instruction No. 14 is not substantially different from Spencer's own proposed Jury Instruction No. 28. (R. 470).

Spencer did not object to giving the jury the limited issue of fact regarding his reasonable belief, an element of probable cause, in Jury Instruction Nos. 14 or 15; and therefore his current objection is waived. *VanDyke*, 758 P.2d at 964; *See also* Utah R. Civ.

P. 51(f). Furthermore, by proffering his own similar instruction, Spencer himself has invited any alleged error. Under the invited error doctrine, the Appellate and Supreme Courts will decline to review, even under plain error or manifest injustice, when counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the trial court that he or she had no objection to the proceedings. *Pinder*, 2005 UT 15, ¶ 62; *Fuller v. Zinik Sporting Good Co.*, 538 P.2d 1036, 1037 (Utah 1975) (It is invited error to fail to tender a proper written instruction).

Under the test set forth in *State v. Dunn*, Spencer has failed to meet his burden in establishing plain error by (i) proving that an error exists, and also (ii) that the alleged error should have been so obvious and fundamental to the trial court, that the trial court erred in submitting the case to the jury. 850 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1993). Spencer failed to adequately explain “why the trial court committed plain error by not recognizing the magnitude of the error and by not stepping in on its own to avoid or remedy it.” *State v. Robinson*, 2006 UT 64, ¶ 14, 147 P.3d 448 (internal quotations omitted). Where Spencer’s reasonable belief at the time he brought the alienation of affections suit was disputed at the trial, this was a proper issue of fact and there was no obvious and fundamental error by the trial court.

Spencer has failed to show any exceptional circumstances which are “reserv[ed] for the most unusual circumstances where our failure to consider an issue that was not properly preserved for appeal would have resulted in manifest injustice.” *State v. Nelson-Waggoner*, 2004 UT 29, ¶ 23, 94 P.3d 186. The concept of exceptional circumstances is elusive, ill-defined, and applies only to rare procedural anomalies one. *Dunn*, 850 P.2d at 1209 n.3.

Spencer's only argument for exceptional circumstances is new development or clarification in Utah law. However, the only Utah cases cited throughout the section are *Gilbert v. Ince*, 1999 UT 65, 981 P.2d 841 and *Baird v. Intermountain School Federal Credit Union*, 555 P.2d 877 (Utah 1976). Moreover, the non-binding cases cited by Spencer were all published at least five years prior to this trial. Any clarification given by the Utah Supreme Court in two cases decided eight and thirty years before the trial is not "new development or clarification in the law."

Therefore, where this issue is not plain error or an exceptional circumstance, this Court should dismiss it for lack of preservation.

B. This Issue Should Be Dismissed Because Spencer Failed to Properly Marshal the Evidence.

"To successfully attack findings of fact, an appellant must first marshal all the evidence supporting the findings and then demonstrate that even if viewed in the light most favorable to the trial court, the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding." *Turnbaugh*, 793 P.2d at 941; Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9). Spencer had the duty of marshaling "in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists." *West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Where Spencer failed to fully comply with this requirement, the appellate court is required to assume that the findings are correct, and the appeal will thus necessarily fail. *Valcarce v. Fitzgerald*, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998).

Spencer did not properly marshal the facts; the limited facts given are not properly cited. When compared with the facts and testimony heard by the jury concerning Spencer's belief when he filed the suit, it is clear that the "challenger [did not] present...every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists." *Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d at 1315. Therefore, where Spencer has not given this Court a "basis from which to conduct a meaningful review of facts challenged on appeal," this Court should "show no reluctance to affirm when the appellant fails to adequately marshal the evidence." *Id.* at 1313; *State v. Larsen*, 828 P.2d 487 (Utah Ct. App. 1992)

C. The Trial Court Properly Gave the Factual Issue of Reasonable Belief to the Jury Where It Was a Disputed Issue.

There were disputed facts regarding Spencer's probable cause and his belief in whether he would prevail. Therefore, it was proper for the jury to decide this issue. Probable cause is defined as "One who takes an active part in initiation, continuation or procurement of civil proceedings against another has probable cause for doing so if he reasonably believes in the existence of the facts upon which the claim is based, and...correctly or reasonably believes that under those facts the claim may be valid under the applicable law." *Gilbert*, 1999 UT 65, ¶ 19.

Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 681B instructs that if the facts are undisputed, it is the province of the court to determine probable cause, but if the facts are in dispute, it is the province of the jury to resolve the facts to enable the court to make the determination. The trial court properly followed the request by Spencer's counsel in his proposed instruction

that the jury determine whether Spencer “knew from the beginning that he could not prevail in his action for alienation of affections...” (R. 470). The legal determination of probable cause was not given the jury. (R. 615-16). The trial court, after the issues had been duly tried and the jury having duly rendered its verdict, ordered and adjudged that Spencer wrongfully brought a civil action by bringing the lawsuit against the Plaintiff for alienation of affections. (R. 955).

Where Spencer’s belief at the time he filed the underlying suit was disputed by the parties, the trial court properly followed the law by allowing the “jury [to] determine[] the circumstances under which the proceedings were initiated in so far as maybe necessary to determine whether the Defendant had probable cause for initiating them.” Rest 2d Torts § 681B(2)(a) and Note 1(c). This is harmonious with longstanding Utah precedent recognizing that elements of probable cause are properly given the jury. *Sweatman v. Linton*, 241 P. 309, 313 (Utah 1925) (“The question as to whether Linton in good faith believed that there was probable cause for the prosecution of Plaintiff, or whether he acted maliciously in causing the prosecution of the Plaintiff was for the jury.”); *see also Straka v. Voyles*, 252 P. 677, 678 (Utah 1927).

Spencer incorrectly cites to several cases to support his position that probable cause is solely a legal finding. Unlike this case, all the cases cited by Spencer did not have disputed facts regarding the reasonable belief of the defendant. *See, e.g., Weststar Mortg. Corp. v. Jackson*, 61 P.3d 823 (N.M. 2002) (“the essential facts on which the issues of probable cause...are not in dispute”); *Robb v. United States Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 798 F.2d

788 (5th Cir. 1986) (“The undisputed facts...at the time it filed subrogation suit were clearly adequate to give...probable cause...”); *Williams v. Coombs*, 179 Cal. App.3d 626 (Cal. Ct. App. 1986) (“[t]here is no dispute about what defendant did or didn’t do, or about what he knew or didn’t know.”); *Sheldon Appel Co. v. Albert & Olier*, 47 Cal.3d 863 (Cal. 1989) (“there were no disputed questions of fact relevant to probable cause to be submitted to the jury...”); and *Prewitt v. Sexton*, 777 S.W.2d 891 (Ky. 1989) (court ruled on “uncontradicted evidence”).

Consistent with the Restatement, many courts, including those cited by Spencer, have upheld that when the facts are in dispute, elements of probable cause are given to the jury. *See, e.g., Chervin v. Travelers, Ins. Co.*, 858 N.E.2d 746 (Mass. 2006); *Kingsland v. City of Miami*, 369 Fed. 3rd 1210 (11th Cir. 2004); *Prewitt*, 777 S.W.2d at 895; and *Sheldon Appel Co.*, 47 Cal.3d at 879.

In this case, Spencer’s lack of probable cause was disputed by Spencer at the trial. This dispute is admitted by Spencer. (*See* Brief of Appellant, p.37). The following section sets forth more than sufficient evidence of Spencer’s lack of belief that he would prevail in the underlying action. Therefore, pursuant to case law, and in particular the law cited by Spencer, the trial court made no error by giving the jury the disputed issue of Spencer’s reasonable belief.

D. Spencer Lacked No Probable Cause Where the Jury Found that He Did Not Have a Reasonable Belief He Would Prevail When He Filed the Underlying Suit.

“Findings of fact shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the [jury] to judge the credibility of the witnesses.” *Turnbaugh*, 793 P.2d at 941. A finding is only clearly erroneous if it is against the clear weight of the evidence. *Id.* After hearing and weighing the evidence presented at trial, the jury found that under the weight of the evidence that, Spencer did not have a reasonable belief that he would prevail in his underlying action.

Nielsen does not wish to burden this Court with repeating all the many facts previously set forth in the Statement of Facts pages 8-14, from which the jury made their determination of Spencer’s belief. However, this section will summarize some key facts which were not marshaled by Spencer.

First, the clear testimony, black and white under oath, by Spencer is that he believed that his marriage was a fraud from the very beginning. (R. 1201, p.178; Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 34, ¶ 37). This was stated within months of his underlying complaint. The evidence was clear that the marriage was a disaster from the beginning and that Spencer and Jewelya were not happily married and there was no genuine love and affection between them. He threatened divorce on the honeymoon. (R. 1200, p.39). There was serious physical, emotional, and verbal abuse. (R. 1200, pp. 42-49). Spencer and Jewelya had many separations as a result of the abuse, and in addition, Spencer was out of town 5 days a week and 40 weeks a year. *Id.* There was mutual infidelity, including seventeen alleged and/or proved extra marital relationships. (R. 1200, pp. 74-76, 83-84).

In a tape recorded conversation, Spencer admitted to Nielsen that he knew he would not win this case, but nonetheless he would bury Nielsen in legal costs and attorneys' fees. (R. 1199, p. 435). Spencer knew what was required to win a suit for alienation of affection. (R. 1200, p. 66). He knew he did not meet those elements. *Id.*

Lastly, Spencer knew that Nielsen was not the controlling cause of any alienation of affection. Beyond the above facts, the jury also heard that Jewelya felt it was acceptable to have romantic relationships with other men. (R. 1201, pp. 174-175). Jewelya sought out and pursued Nielsen. (R. 1200, pp. 51-53). It was Spencer who ended their marital relationship. (R. 1200, pp. 71-73). He refused to get counseling and help for his abusive behavior. *Id.* He was diagnosed as being narcissistic. (R. 1201, p. 301). He would blame others to protect himself, followed a pattern of attacking and seeking revenge, lacked empathy, and felt that the rules did not apply to him. (R. 1201, pp. 305-06).

Pursuant to the above summarized facts and those detailed previously in the Statement of Facts, the jury was reasonable in finding that Spencer did not have a reasonable belief he would prevail and therefore the Court properly found that Spencer wrongfully filed a civil suit. Pursuant to the jury's finding that Spencer had no reasonable belief he would prevail, there could be no probable cause by law. *Gilbert*, 1999 UT 65, ¶ 19.

II. UNDER NIELSEN'S CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL BRINGING OF A CIVIL SUIT, IT WAS PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT SPENCER'S UNDERLYING ACTION FOR ALIENATION OF AFFECTIONS WAS TERMINATED ON THE MERITS.

A. Because This Issue Was Not Preserved and Does not Involve Not Plain Error or an Exceptional Circumstances, it Should Not Be Addressed on Appeal.

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